
Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
November 18, 2013 
Page 1 of 7 
 

 

Town of Swanzey, New Hampshire 
Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment 
Meeting Minutes – November 18, 2013 

 

Note:  Draft Minutes are subject to review, correction and approval by the Board. Review and approval of Minutes 
generally takes place at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 

 
The November 18, 2013 meeting of the Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) was called to order 
at 7:03 p.m. by Chairman William Hutwelker. Present were Chairman Hutwelker, Jerry Walker, Bob 
Mitchell, Charles Beauregard, Sr., Alternate Charles Beauregard, Jr., Alternate Sarah Tatro and Beverly 
Bernard, Recording Secretary. The Recording Secretary called the roll and read the Agenda for the 
meeting. Vice Chair Keith Thibault arrived at 7:15 p.m. 
 
Absent:  Alternate Bryan Rudgers and Jim Vitous 
 
Others Present:  Director of Planning and Community Development Sara Carbonneau, and various 
members of the public 
 
Minutes:  Motion by Beauregard, Jr.to approve the Minutes for the meeting of October 21, 2013 and 
October 23, 2013, seconded by Tatro and all in favor except Beauregard, Sr. who abstained. Motion 
passed.   
 

1. Public Hearing (Variance Application) –  
Brian Stone requests a variance from Section IV.B.3. to permit the expansion of a carport that 
does not meet required setbacks.  The property is located at 39 Goodell Avenue, shown at Tax 
Map 30, Lot 5-4 situated in the Residence District.   
 
Public hearing opened at 7:07 p.m. 
 
Seated for this hearing were Hutwelker, Walker, Mitchell, Beauregard, Sr., and Tatro for 
Thibault.  
 
Carbonneau reviewed the legal public notices, including Department Head notices, and notices 
to abutters.  She also noted that a variance was granted for the carport in 2006. 
 
Mr. Stone addressed the Board.  He is starting a new business, and he needs to extend the 
garage for a tanker vehicle. He said there will be a heater system in the carport, and the carport 
will be enclosed. Stone said he is extending the roof out twelve (12) feet in front.  He said the 
carport is within fifty (50) feet of the road and the extension will be angled and away from the 
neighbor’s fence. Stone said he takes care of his property. Beauregard, Sr. said he is a neighbor 
to the applicant. He said he is on the other side of Trotter Lane. Hutwelker asked Beauregard, Sr. 
whether he should excuse himself.  Beauregard said he didn’t think he had a conflict of interest. 
 
Public hearing closed at 7:13 p.m. 



Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
November 18, 2013 
Page 2 of 7 
 

 
Chair Hutwelker reviewed the Checklist for Granting a Variance with the members of the Board. 
 

1. Could the variance be granted without being contrary to the public interest? 
All “yes” 

2. Would the spirit of the ordinance be observed if the variance were granted? 
All “yes” 

3. Would the granting the variance do substantial justice? 
All “yes” 

4. Could the variance be granted without diminishing surrounding property values? 
All “yes” 

5. Do special conditions of the property exist that distinguish it from other properties in the area?   
Unique characteristics – shape of the property tapers back significantly (like a boot).  All “yes” 

a. Owing to the special conditions of the property that distinguish it from other property in the 
area, there is not a fair and substantial relationship between the general public purpose of 
the ordinance and the specific application of the provision to the property?  
All “yes” 

b. Is the proposed use a reasonable one? 
All “yes” 

 

“yes” prevails for the Checklist for Granting a Variance 
 

Tatro made a motion to approve a variance from Section IV.B.3. to permit the expansion of 
a carport that does not meet required setbacks for property located at 39 Goodell Avenue, 
shown at Tax Map 30, Lot 5-4 situated in the Residence District. The motion was seconded 
by Walker and all were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
2. Public Hearing (Special Exception Application)  

Jason Macalister requests a special exception from Section V.B.2.a. to permit vehicle race events 
to be held in the grandstands at the Cheshire Fairgrounds.  The property is situated at 247 
Monadnock Highway.  The property is situated in the Business District and is shown at Tax Map 
19, Lot 94.  The property is owned by Cheshire Fair Association, Inc.  
 
Public hearing opened at 7:19 p.m. 
 
Seated for the hearing were Hutwelker, Beauregard Sr., Walker, Mitchell, and Tatro. 
 
Carbonneau reviewed the posting of legal notices to the public, to abutters, and to Department 
Heads. 
 
Hutwelker noted that there were residents of the Town present for this hearing and advised 
them that Macalister would first address the Board and subsequently the floor would be open 
to questions and comments from residents.  
 
Macalister addressed the Board. He showed the Board a map of the property showing the 
grandstands being 1400 feet to property line, 500 feet to the road, and 1000 feet to the sides. 
He said the races will be for ATVs, go-carts, flat track motorcycles, and four-cylinder cars and 
every car will have a muffler on them.  He said that according to information he looked up sound 



Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
November 18, 2013 
Page 3 of 7 
 

levels are 106 Decibels at 20 feet behind the vehicle.  He did not provide any documentation for 
this data. He said he would keep the noise level to as low as possible. He went on to say that 
operating hours will be 6 p.m. to 10 p.m. on alternate Saturday nights (twice a month).   
 
He said the race track is a dirt oval, between the two grandstands, which is the same location for 
a once a year demolition derby.  He said there is enough room between the stands for the oval. 
He said hay bales and tires will be provided for safety of the races and spectators. Macalister 
said he has raced for ten years.  He said he has operated a track in 2009 now called Legion 
Speedway. When he operated the track it was named Rattlesnake Motordrome. 
 
Tatro asked if there would be admission charged and the response was “yes” from Macalister. 
Tatro asked about rules and regulations that the racers will be operating on and who would be 
monitoring conformance to those. Macalister said that he would be monitoring the racers.  
 
Carbonneau said she didn’t get any response from the Department Heads.  Tatro asked about 
conversations with Police Chief and Fire Chief for standby support services.  Macalister 
responded that security from Cheshire Fairgrounds will be at race events.   
 
Mitchell asked about an official sanctioning body for this type of racing. Macalister said there is. 
Mitchell said what he is asking was if the races he is running would be under those bodies. 
Macalister said no, he is independent, but following their guidelines.  
 
Mitchell asked about alcohol.  Macalister said he might have alcohol sales on the premises.  
Walker said he is concerned about the closing hour of ten p.m., and suggested that noise could 
be a problem.  Macalister said that the hours of operation are the result of having a dirt track; as 
soon as the sun goes down, the track improves and less dust is generated.  Macalister also said 
he would be watering the track.  
 
There followed a discussion about noise after the curfew time and alcohol purchases affecting 
drivers leaving the area. Beauregard, Jr. asked about the curfew time.  Macalister said that the 
curfew would be enforced and that drivers wear a wrist band indicating that they are a driver so 
they won’t be able to buy alcohol.  Thibault asked about the order of race vehicles.  Macalister 
said the motorcycles go first because they make less dust.  Four–cylinder cars will go last. 
Macalister said some towns require a decibel reading at the property line. 
 
Mitchell asked a question about all the vehicles having stock mufflers (Macalister said that they 
will). Tatro asked about testing for decibels. Macalister said he will have a hand-held monitor to 
test for decibels. He said that maximum decibels will be 96 decibels.  
 
Kathy Belliveau, Swanzey resident, spoke up to say that she doesn’t mind the demo derby, and 
mud bog, because those occur once a year at the Cheshire Fairgrounds.  She pointed out the 
announcing systems are loud in order to be heard over the race vehicle noise. Macalister said 
that he could face the speakers down toward the attendees.  Donald Lewis, resident of Swanzey, 
whose home is across from the Cheshire Fairgrounds said that the noise from the fairgrounds 
goes up and it bounces off the hillside and back into his home.  He said that he didn’t think the 



Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
November 18, 2013 
Page 4 of 7 
 

property had 2,000 feet but Hutwelker noted that the map provided by Macalister showed 2140 
feet. 
 
Stephanie Boucher, Swanzey resident, asked where Macalister comes from and he responded 
that he lives in Fitzwilliam. She went on to say that the noise level is a concern. She asked about 
whether there would be additional public hearings, or the variance would be decided tonight.  
Hutwelker said it depends on information that the Board needs to make a decision.  If they think 
they need more information, there would be further hearings. She asked about how many cars 
would be in each heat and Macalister responded between 10 and 12 cars. She then said that she 
was shocked to learn that alcohol might be served.  Macalister said the alcohol is a decision to 
be made later.   
 
David Belliveau, Swanzey resident, asked about the drivers – they are not certified by anyone.  
Macalister said that the bikes have to conform to the rules.  Belliveau asked about safety for 
spectators.  Macalister said that there will be a fence, Rogers Rangers, and hay bales. Rogers 
Rangers are EMS responders (EMTs). Macalister said that there will be an ambulance as needed.  
Macalister said he has insurance that requires first aid people on site.  Belliveau said that noise 
is the biggest concern.  Announcers are louder than the racers and the noise will be constant 
since it will be all summer long every other weekend.  

 
Carbonneau pointed out that if the Board gave a special exception in this case, it would be 
available for future operators, and not specific to Macalister.  
 
Kathy Belliveau said there are three major neighborhoods in the immediate area.  She asked 
what recourse citizens have if the situation deteriorates. Carbonneau said that it is difficult 
situation with the event being held on weekends because the Code Enforcement officer doesn’t 
work on weekends.  She also noted that noise levels are difficult to enforce.  Decibel readers 
need to be calibrated properly and readers need to know how to operate them correctly.  She 
said that a major issue around a noise ordinance is getting someone to obtain readings for 
correctly calibrated decibel readers and people trained to read them.  

 
David Belliveau made a point about whether the Cheshire Fairgrounds could shut down the 
event. Macalister said he has a lease and agreement with them and they could rescind the 
agreement if Macalister didn’t follow the stipulations of the agreement, but there is nothing in 
the agreement about noise.   
 
A discussion was held about driver’s licenses, training, and age limits for participation.   
Macalister said that a driver’s course could be held for testing driver’s ability to follow the rules.  
Macalister said that the racers would practice and review the lights, the flags, etc. and if they 
didn’t race properly, they would not be able to race. Tatro pointed out that if someone has a 
driver’s license suspended for Driving Under the Influence (of alcohol or drugs – DUI), there 
would be no way for Macalister to know that. Macalister said that usually the same people show 
up every night.  As to age limits, some 5 or 6 yr olds race.   
 
Thibault asked Macalister why this is an appropriate location for him. Macalister responded that 
the Fair Committee was interested in doing it.  He said he talked to the Fair people and they 



Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
November 18, 2013 
Page 5 of 7 
 

were supportive.  Thibault asked Carbonneau to explain the process for special events. 
Carbonneau said that event permits go through the Board of Selectmen – asked for proof of 
insurance, permits, etc. and then goes to Fire Department and Police Department before a 
permit is issued.  She went on to say that for recurring event, a blanket permit would be issued 
for the summer.  She also noted that there are not many recurring events at the Cheshire 
Fairgrounds. Carbonneau said the horse shows are closest to be recurring.   
 
Thibault referred to page 72 of the Ordinance which defines recreational facility conducted as a 
business.  None of the items listed have noise issues.  He said he isn’t confident from setting 
limits on noise regulations. He said he is unsure about how these kinds of regulations are done 
and monitored. 
 
Beauregard, Jr. said a former Chief of Police didn’t want to have the responsibility for 
monitoring noise in the past because it is difficult to monitor.  He noted that the Board of 
Selectmen didn’t want to take on the responsibility in the past either. Mitchell mentioned a 
problem the Town had in the past regarding noise generated by a helicopter flight school. 
 
Chair Hutwelker told the residents that the Board of Selectmen has open meetings for any 
citizen to attend and there is usually a public comment opportunity.  
 
Hutwelker referred to page 25 of the Ordinance, having to do with the Rural/Agricultural zone: 
item L. there is list and then a paragraph stating racing was prohibited.  It is silent for other 
zones. His point was that the Planning Board was concerned enough to put a restriction 
regarding the Rural/Agricultural zone. 
 
Hutwelker then addressed the applicant. He said he found the application was not well 
presented in terms of the information that should have been presented.   Macalister then told 
the Board that the Cheshire Fairgrounds folks made up the application.   Hutwelker said that 
Macalister didn’t provide enough information to help the Board understand the issues like 
noise, and the issue of alcohol during the event.  Hutwelker said the Board should have a 
drawing showing a fence, the oval, and the grandstands and include information about the 
regulations and rules for racing.  Hutwelker added that the Board should be able to review the 
lease agreement with Cheshire Fairgrounds so that the Board can understand what recourse 
would be available should the event fail to meet application criteria as promised.   
 
Hutwelker then told Macalister that he may withdraw his application if he wished to do so. 
Carbonneau asked if the Board would entertain a continuance.  Chair Hutwelker said that upon 
learning that the Cheshire Fairgrounds filled out the application and that the applicant was not 
familiar with the details of the application, he was personally not included to grant a 
continuance.  
 
Macalister said he would like to withdraw the application and then left the meeting. 

 
3. Public Hearing (Variance & Special Exception Applications) –  

Robert Secord seeks a variance and a special exception pursuant to Section V.B.2.b. to permit 
the conversion of an existing structure to a 4 unit apartment.  The property is situated at 935 



Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
November 18, 2013 
Page 6 of 7 
 

West Swanzey Road.  A variance is required as the property does not meet the minimum 
acreage required for granting a special exception for a multi- family dwelling.  The property is 
situated in the Business District and shown at Tax Map 87, Lot 3.   
 
Dual public hearing opened at 8:52 p.m. 
 
Hutwelker, Thibault, Walker, Mitchell, and Beauregard Sr. were seated for the hearing. 
 
Carbonneau reviewed the public hearing notices, and providing notice to the Department 
Heads, and the abutters. She noted that current use of property is two apartments.  She also 
noted that the current zoning map mistakenly shows his property as being in the Residence 
District.  According to Carbonneau, Secord's property is, in fact, located in the Business District.   
She also noted that the community water supply is operated by Pine Grove Mobile Home Park 
and regulated by the State of New Hampshire.  
 
Mr. Secord addressed the Board.  He told the Board he has about 2 ¼ acres and he wants to 
make a garage on the property into two single bedroom apartments. Currently the property is 
being used for two apartments, one with one bedroom, the other with two bedrooms. 
Altogether he would eventually have four units: three with single bedrooms and the one 
apartment with two bedrooms. He said that the septic system is private and he has had 
someone look at the property for a new septic system. He said the soil has been tested for a 
new septic system.  He said he has plenty of parking spaces.  He said that the garage is basically 
now a shell and he would remove the overhead door and replace that with windows and doors 
but that the rest of the property would remain the same.   
 
Hutwelker asked for a document for the design of the septic system. Secord said that he didn’t 
have one yet as he thought that the new septic system would not be installed until the spring of 
2014. Carbonneau said Secord will need to go to the Planning Board and that he needs a special 
exception because of the property being in the business district and multi-family housing is 
permitted only by Special Exception in the Business District. Secord pointed out that there is the 
mobile home park behind his property and therefore apartments fit the area.  He went on to say 
that Pine Grove Mobile Home Park has an agreement with Secord to service him with water 
which was in the deed when he bought the property. 
 
Pat Fallon, Treasurer of Pine Grove Mobile Home Park, spoke next. She said that the intent of 
the agreement on the deed to Mr. Secord was to service water for a one family home, and they 
do not believe they can supply the water for four families.  She said the service pipe is ¾ inch 
supply pipe which she believes is insufficient for four families.   
 
Secord said he was surprised by Fallon’s statement. Fallon said Pine Grove Mobile Home Park 
has 119 homes and they have two wells. 
 
Hutwelker asked if Secord would prefer to continue the hearing.  Secord said “yes”, because he 
was surprised by the response by Fallon and needs to discuss the issues further with the Pine 
Grove Mobile Home Park managers. 
 



Town of Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment  Draft Minutes 
November 18, 2013 
Page 7 of 7 
 

Motion was made by Beauregard, Sr. to continue the hearing for a variance and a 
special exception pursuant to Section V.B.2.b. to permit the conversion of an existing 
structure to a 4 unit apartment situated at 935 West Swanzey Road in the Business 
District to December 16, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. at Swanzey Town Hall.  The motion was 
seconded by Walker and all were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
Carbonneau noted to all present that there would not be further notice to abutters since the 
hearing on December 16, 2013 would be a continuance. 
 
Public hearing closed at 9:08 p.m. 

 

Move to adjourn was made by Beauregard, Sr., with a second by  Mitchell. Adjourned at 9:11p.m. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 
Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary 

 

 
 

 


